RECEIVED

JUL 12 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Casey L. Manning, Circuit Court Judge

C.A. No.: 2016-CP-40-00818
Court of Appeals Docket No. 2016-000631

Amedisys SC, L.L.CAppellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental ControlDefendant,

and

National Healthcare Corporation, Pruitthealth Corporation, In-Care Home Health, Inc.,
Tri-County Home Health Care & Services, Inc., M&C Group, LLC d/b/a/ Home Helpers
of Bluffton, Tidewater Home Health, PA, and Hedgemark Brentwood Medical Services
Inc. d/b/a PHC Home Health Intervenor-Defendants;

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the circuit court err in denying a preliminary injunction to enjoin the issuance of administrative decisions on home health certificate-of-need applications until the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control and the participating parties can obtain a judicial determination of whether the current South Carolina Health Plan criteria that control such decisions violate the governing statute, S.C. Code Ann. §44-7-180(B) (Supp. 2015), by failing to set forth projections of need for additional home health services and standards for distribution of home health services as required by the statute?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Parties

Plaintiff-Appellant Amedisys SC, LLC (“**Amedisys**”) and each of the Intervenor-Defendant Respondents (“**Intervenors**”) is an entity that provides home health services in various South Carolina counties and/or that has multiple pending applications for certificates of need (“**CONs**”) to provide home health services in additional counties.

Defendant-Respondent Department of Health and Environmental Control (“**DHEC**”) is an agency of the State of South Carolina, created by the General Assembly.

The Statutory Regime

DHEC is governed by S.C. Code Ann. §§ 44-1-20 *et seq.* (2002), and in particular as it relates to this action by the “State Certification of Need and Health Facility Licensure Act (S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-110 *et seq.* (2002), the “**CON Act**”) and the “Licensure of Home Health Agencies Act” (S.C. Code Ann. § 44-69-10 *et seq.* (2002), the “**HHA Act**”).

The Regulatory Framework

In order “to promote cost containment, prevent unnecessary duplication of healthcare facilities and services, guide the establishment of health facilities and services which will best serve public needs, and ensure that high quality services are provided in health facilities in this State,” the General Assembly requires that certain healthcare providers obtain a CON prior to undertaking certain healthcare activities. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-120(1) (2002). Included in that legislative determination is the requirement that a provider, in order to obtain a license to provide home health services in a county, must first demonstrate that there is an identified, unmet need for its services in that county and

receive a CON from DHEC for the services in that county. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-69-75(A) (2002); 3 S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15 § 202(2)(b)(11) (Supp. 2015).¹

Prior to issuing CONs, DHEC must, under the CON Act and the HHA Act, establish objective criteria for need determination; and it must apply those criteria in evaluating and acting upon CON applications in its implementation of the CON program (the “CON Program”). The need-determination standards are to be revised biennially in a State Health Plan (a “Plan”). S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-180 (Supp. 2015). Such Plans are legally binding and have the force of law, and thus control the issuance of CONs.²

A Plan “at a minimum must include,” among other things, “projections of need for additional . . . health services” and “standards for distribution of . . . specified health services . . . including scope of services to be provided, utilization, . . . regionalization, [and] other factors relating to proper placement of services . . .” S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-180(B) (Supp. 2015); 3 S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15, § 106(1) & (2) (Supp. 2015) (emphasis added). And again, “[t]he South Carolina Health Plan must address and include projections and standards for specified health services and equipment which have a potential to substantially impact health care cost and accessibility.” S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-180(B) (Supp. 2015) (emphasis added).

¹ The HHA Act defines “home health services” to include certain statutorily-listed healthcare items and services furnished on a visiting basis in a patient’s residence (or as an outpatient at a facility where certain equipment cannot be readily brought to the patient’s home). S.C. Code Ann. § 44-69-20(5) (2002). Entities providing home health services are defined as “home health agencies.” S.C. Code Ann. § 44-69-20(4) (2002).

² The General Assembly has forbidden DHEC to “issue a Certificate of Need unless an application complies with the South Carolina Health Plan” and certain other requirements. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-210(B) (Supp. 2015); *see also Trident Med. Ctr. v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Control*, 412 S.C. 341, 350, 772 S.E.2d 177, 182 (Ct. App. 2015), *cert. denied* (Dec. 18, 2015) (“[I]t is clear the legislature intended for the State Health Plan to be an enforceable document.”).

The requirement that the Plan project need for additional services has a three-fold purpose. First, it helps to direct service expansion to areas – and thus patients – most in need of the services, by alerting existing and prospective home health providers as to where DHEC believes a need exists. Second, it provides DHEC thresholds and baselines from which to measure whether a CON applicant has met the basic need requirement. Third, it provides DHEC with an objective measurement by which to determine whether CON applicants are “competing” within the meaning of the CON Act and the Department’s implementing regulations set forth at 3 S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 61-15 (the “*CON Regulations*”). Importantly, DHEC is prohibited from approving more than one application for similar services in the same area if doing so would “exceed the need” for such facilities and services. S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-130(5) (2002); § 44-7-210(B) (Supp. 2015).

The Historical Context

This case arises in the aftermath of the funding hiatus in the CON Program from July 1, 2013 through June 30, 2014. This Court held on April 14, 2014, however, that the failure to fund did not terminate the CON Program and that the Program remained in full force and effect. *Amisub of S.C., Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Control*, 403 S.C. 576, 743 S.E.2d 786 (2013). The uncertainty occasioned by the funding hiatus, however, delayed the adoption of a Plan for 2014-2015.

On August 13, 2015, DHEC’s governing body, the South Carolina Board of Health and Environmental Control (the “**Board**”), adopted the State Health Plan for 2014-2015 (the “**Current Plan**”). (R. 299). The portion of the Current Plan relevant to home health services and thus to this action is Chapter XII “Long-Term Care Facilities

and Services – Home Health” (pp. XII-6 – XII-9; (R. 319-322)) and Chapter XIII “Inventories and Determinations of Need – Home Health Agency Utilization” (pp. XIII-46 – XIII-51; (R. 325-330)).³ The Current Plan’s “Certificate of Need Standards” for home health CONs (Current Plan, p. XII-7 – XII-8; (R. 320-321)) are significantly different from those of preceding State Health Plans. *Compare* the 2012-2013 State Health Plan (the “**Prior Plan**,” p. XII-13 – XII-15; (R. 289-291)), and the 2010-2011 State Health Plan (the “**2010 Plan**,” p. XII-13 – XII-16; (R. 259-262)).

In the 7 months following the adoption of the Current Plan, there have been approximately 150 home health CON applications filed with DHEC which collectively affect all 46 counties. This unprecedented figure compares to approximately 22 home health CON applications affecting only 4 counties during the preceding 7 years.⁴ On January 22, 2016, DHEC declared 48 of the current CON applications to be complete, thus making them eligible for consideration and decision by DHEC.⁵

³ This lawsuit does not affect South Carolina’s CON Program for any healthcare services or facilities other than home healthcare.

⁴ The 150 applications filed in the last 7 months include 8 applications filed by Amedisys to preserve its interests in case DHEC is not enjoined in the present action. Data related to CON applications are drawn from public records, specifically the DHEC website at http://www.scdhec.gov/Health/docs/CON_PendingApp.pdf, the Notice of General Public Interest published at 40 S.C. State Reg. (No. 3) 8 (2016) listing CON applications that have been accepted for filing and/or have been deemed complete, the 2010 Plan, the Prior Plan, and the Current Plan), and Administrative Law Court decisions *NHC/OP, L.P. v. SCDHEC & Health Related Home Care*, Docket No. 12-ALJ-07-0299-CC and *Tri-County Home Health Care & Servs., Inc. v. SCDHEC & United Home Care, Inc.*, Docket No. 12-ALJ-07-0005-CC).

⁵ 40 S.C. State Reg. (No. 1) 7 (2016). Once an application is submitted, DHEC may request additional information. After DHEC deems an application complete, it must notify affected persons of that fact through publication in the *South Carolina State Register*. DHEC must then either grant or deny the requested certificate of need within 30 to 120 days of the publication of the last competing application (or up to 150 days if someone requests a public hearing). S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-210(A) (Supp. 2015). DHEC

The Procedural Posture

On February 8, 2016, Amedisys filed its Complaint under the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act against DHEC, alleging that the Current Plan's criteria for home health CONs are invalid due to their omission of "projections of need for additional . . . health services" and "standards for distribution of . . . specified health services," which are required to be part of each State Health Plan by S.C. Code Ann. §44-7-180 (Supp. 2015). (R. 14). On the following day, Amedisys moved for a preliminary injunction preventing DHEC from acting on home health CON applications during the lawsuit. (R. 85).

Following motions to intervene by the Intervenors, a memorandum by DHEC in opposition to a preliminary injunction (R. 106, 114), and notice to all parties including the Intervenors, Judge Casey L. Manning heard the motion on February 22, 2016, and at the conclusion of the hearing invited proposed orders from all parties, including the Intervenors whom he admitted to the case. (Tr. at 5:15-19; 53:11-13. R. 197, 245). Each party submitted a proposed order as directed. Judge Manning adopted the proposed order of the Intervenors in full on February 23, 2016. *See* Order (R. 1).⁶ Amedisys appealed from the denial of a preliminary injunction on March 21, 2016, and served the notice thereof on all counsel of record on that day.

has now deemed 81 out of the 150 submitted applications to be complete and has published notices to affected persons in the *South Carolina State Register* issues of January 22, 2016, February 26, 2016, and March 25, 2016. Thus, with respect to those 81 applications, DHEC is now in the period in which it may issue staff decisions and must decide beginning on May 23, 2016. 40 S.C. State Reg. (No. 1) 7 (2016); 40 S.C. State Reg. (No. 2) 19 (2016); and 40 S.C. State Reg. (No. 3) 8 (2016).

⁶ Subsequent to entry of the Order, DHEC filed its Answer in this action on March 10, 2016. (R. 120).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review on the grant or denial of an injunction is for an abuse of discretion. *Gilley v. Gilley*, 327 S.C. 8, 11-12, 488 S.E.2d 310, 312 (1997); *Peek v. Spartanburg Reg'l Healthcare Sys.*, 367 S.C. 450, 454, 626 S.E.2d 34, 36 (Ct.App. 2005). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the decision of the trial court is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law.” *Peek, supra, citing Ledford v. Pa. Life Ins. Co.*, 267 S.C. 671, 675, 230 S.E.2d 900, 902 (1976) (emphasis added).

One of the criteria for a preliminary injunction is whether there is a likelihood of success on the merits. *Compton v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 392 S.C. 361, 366, 709 S.E.2d 639, 642 (2011). Judge Manning ruled that this criterion was not met. Order at 12; (R. 12).

However, the sole issue in the underlying declaratory judgment action is whether the Current Plan, as it relates to home health services, violates S.C. Code Ann. §44-7-180(B) (Supp. 2015). The Supreme Court has previously held that that issue “is a legal conclusion based on statutory interpretation principles.” Thus, no factual findings are necessary to determine compliance with § 44-7-180(B).” *MRI at Belfair, LLC v. S. Carolina Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control*, 379 S.C. 1, 7, 664 S.E.2d 471, 474 (2008) (emphasis added). Further, “[t]he interpretation of a statute is a question of law.” . . . This Court may interpret statutes, and therefore resolve this case, ‘without any deference to the court below.’” *Brock v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, Op. No. 27621 (S.C.Sup.Ct. filed April 13, 2016) (Shearouse Adv.Sh. No. 16 at 21) (citations omitted; emphasis added).

Thus, because the sole question in the underlying declaratory judgment action is a pure question of law involving statutory interpretation and for which no factual finding is necessary, the question of the likelihood of success on the merits of that question is also a

pure question of law, as to which this Court owes no deference to the lower court. Moreover, because it is a pure question of law, the determination of the likelihood of success on the merits with respect to the motion for a preliminary injunction will necessarily be a determination of the merits of the underlying declaratory judgment action. And because that question of the merits is the sole question in the underlying declaratory judgment action, its determination will resolve this case and thus resolve this appeal.

Accordingly, the “Argument” section below is devoted primarily to the issue of the circuit court’s error of law with respect to the likelihood of success on the merits. The other aspects of preliminary injunction review, irreparable harm and adequate remedy at law, will be dealt with at less length.

ARGUMENT

What is at issue here amounts to a second attempted vitiation of the CON Program (the first being the 2013 failure to fund) for critical home health services state-wide, this time through an administrative implementation that is neither legislatively authorized nor promulgated as a regulation. The Current Plan eviscerates the CON Program of the statutorily-mandated objective standards and criteria to guide applicants, opponents, and DHEC itself in the administration of the CON Program for home health services. The disappearance from the Current Plan of objective criteria by which to establish need with respect to home health CON applications is reflected in the free-for-all atmosphere that it has engendered. *See* text accompanying footnote 4, *supra*.

To obtain a preliminary injunction, the moving party must demonstrate that (1) it would suffer irreparable harm if the injunction is not granted; (2) it will likely succeed on the merits of the litigation; and (3) there is no adequate remedy at law. *Compton v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 392 S.C. 361, 366, 709 S.E.2d 639, 642 (2011). As demonstrated below, Amedisys met each of those requirements.

I. Unlike previous Plans, the Current Plan fails to articulate objective, discernible, reviewable criteria for measuring need for home health services.

Under previous Plans, applicants, opponents, and DHEC had demonstrated, denied, or evaluated need based on established criteria related to population, growth, inventory of current services, and demographic need. For example, the Prior Plan (for 2012-2013) established a detailed methodology for determining need based on population, projected population growth, and utilization rates broken down by age-demographic. The need calculation methodology of the Prior Plan related to home health services is described in Paragraph 4 of "Certificate of Need Standards," as follows:

4. The need methodology creates statewide use rates for four population groups (0-17, 18-64, 65-74, 75+) based on 2011 utilization data; 75% of these rates are applied against the projected 2013 populations for each county to get a total number of estimated patients in need. It then takes the actual number of patients served in 2011 and multiplies them by the population growth factor to project the number of patients to be served by the existing home health agencies in the county for 2013. The projected number of patients served by the existing agencies is subtracted from the total estimated number of patients in need. If there is a difference of 100 or more patients projected to be in need, then another agency could be approved for that county.

Prior Plan at XII-13 (R. at 289). This explanation was accompanied by a spreadsheet applying that methodology to calculate home-health services need in each of the 46 counties. Prior Plan at XII-14 (R. at 290). Moreover, beginning with the 2010 Plan, DHEC established a mechanism for keeping the population and services-inventory information up-to-date throughout the life of a Plan, and had followed through on that mechanism. 2010 Plan and Prior Plan updates, Complaint, Ex. B (R. at 41).

The Current Plan, however, rejects the need projection methodology that had been used for the past several biennial Plans as they related to home health services. (*Compare* Prior Plan at ¶ 4 and page XII-14 (R. 289, 290), *with* Current Plan at ¶¶ 3 and 4 (R. 320).

The need component of the Current Plan related to home health services states:

3. A new home health agency may be approved if an applicant can demonstrate it will serve 50 or more patients projected to be in need in non-rural counties, or 25 or more patients projected to be in need in rural counties, through evidence that may include, but would not be limited to, the following:

- a. Letters of support that identify need for additional home health services from physicians and other referral sources.
- b. Evidence of underutilization of home health services.
- c. Evidence of limited scope home health agency service including skilled nursing, physical therapy, occupational therapy, speech therapy, home health aides, and medical social workers.

d. Evidence of the denial or delay in the provision of home health services, including but not limited to long waiting lists or delays which exceed industry standards.

4. For the purposes of this Section, a rural county shall mean a county with a population of less than 50,000, according to the most recent projections of the South Carolina Revenue and Fiscal Affairs office as of the time the current Plan was adopted.

Current Plan at XII-7 (R. at 320).

II. The circuit court made an error of law in determining Amedisys was not likely to succeed on the merits because the omission of reviewable, objective criteria regarding home health services from the Current Plan violates the CON Act, deprives providers of due process, and abrogates the rule of law.

As shown, the Current Plan differs very significantly from its predecessors by omitting meaningful, reviewable standards for assessing home health CON applications. Unlike previous Plans, the home health “Certificate of Need Standards” of the Current Plan, in the paragraphs quoted immediately above, do not set, or provide a method for determining, a uniformly applicable and objective projection of need in any county, and thus provide no usable criteria for granting or denying an applicant a CON on a principled, reviewable basis. This difference violates S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-180(B) (Supp. 2015).

A. *The deficient standards of need deprive DHEC of the tools that the CON Act and the HHA Act require it to utilize in its consideration of any new and pending applications.*

Without uniformly applicable and objective criteria for granting or denying a home health CON application or determining which applications are “competing,” DHEC’s own decisions would, by definition, be arbitrary and capricious and subject to judicial invalidation. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5)(f) (Supp. 2015). The failure to provide such standards renders that portion of the Plan invalid.

1. DHEC cannot objectively determine need under the Current Plan.

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