RECEIVED

JUL 25 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court Of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 2016-CP-40-00818

Appellate Case No. 2016-000631

Amedisys SC, LLC..... Plaintiff/Appellant

v.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control Defendant,

And

National HealthCare Corporation, In-Care Home Health, Inc., Tri-County Home Health & Services, Inc., M&C Group, LLC d/b/a Home Helpers of Bluffton, Tidewater Home Health, P.A., Hedgemark Brentwood Medical Services, Inc., d/b/a PHCHome Health and PruittHealth Corporation,..... Intervenor-Defendants,

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

ARGUMENT

The sole issue on appeal is whether the circuit court abused its discretion in denying Amedisys's preliminary injunction. *Peek*, at 454, 626 S.E. 2d at 36. Amedisys's brief goes beyond the bounds of this Court's review. Amedisys seeks review of the underlying issue of its

¹ Amedisys withdrew at the hearing its motion for a temporary restraining order. *See* Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion for Preliminary Injunction at 2 n.1 (R. 2).

² Amedisys's co-plaintiff in the Complaint, The South Carolina Home Care & Hospital Association, "effectively dismiss[ed] itself" from the action after the motions to intervene were granted. *See* Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion for Preliminary Injunction at 2 (R. 2).

declaratory judgment action that is still pending in the circuit court. The Court should focus on the sole issue before it—the merits of the preliminary injunction— not the merits of the underlying case, before the trial court has had a chance to review the issue.

I. Amedisys’s argument misapplies the abuse of discretion standard of review.

Amedisys attempts to create a new standard of review to allow this Court to review the merits of the underlying action. Amedisys argues that because the question of the validity of the State Health Plan is a legal question, this Court may review the circuit court’s order without deference to the lower court. This is an incorrect construction of existing law. First, Amedisys argues that factual findings are irrelevant to determine the validity of the new State Health Plan. *MRI at Belfair, LLC v. S.C. Dep’t. of Health and Env’tl. Control*, 379 S.C. 1, 7 n.4 664 S.E.2d 471, 474 (2008). In *Belfair*, the Court was asked to consider the validity of State Health Plan standards for MRIs. This question came to the Court after a full administrative hearing on the merits. In this case, the Court is not being asked to resolve a question concerning the validity of the State Health Plan. This Court is simply being asked to resolve whether the circuit court properly denied a preliminary injunction. While the validity of the Plan may be, in part, a question of law, this does not change the standard of review for denial of a preliminary injunction. Second, Amedisys mischaracterizes the Court’s decision in *Brock v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, Op. 27621 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed April 13, 2016). The Court in *Brock* discussed the standard of review for review of a declaratory judgment based on a question of law. The standard of review for a declaratory judgment is “determined by the underlying issues.” *Id.* In *Brock*, the Court was asked to review whether an action violated the Freedom of Information Act. This required the Court to examine the statute, which is a question of law. *Id.* This reasoning is not applicable to this case because this case is not an appeal of a declaratory judgment.

Both *Belfair* and *Brock* were cases that had undergone full hearings on the merits and the courts were being asked to review the underlying legal conclusions. If Amedisys had allowed the circuit court to conduct a full hearing on the merits and consider the validity of home health standards in the Plan, the *Brock* and *Belfair* standards of review may have been applicable. Instead, Amedisys appeals the denial of its preliminary injunction and is attempting to have this Court improperly review the validity of the State Health Plan's standards for home health. This question is not properly before this Court. The only issue before this Court is whether the circuit court abused its discretion in denying the preliminary injunction.

II. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that Amedisys cannot show a likelihood of success on the merits.

A. The current Plan is valid and provides meaningful standards to home health providers seeking a certificate of need.

The essence of Amedisys's complaint is that the State Health Plan does not contain objective standards by which DHEC can review CON applications and determine whether to grant or deny a CON application. This issue goes to the merits of the underlying action and should only be considered by this Court to the extent necessary to determine whether the circuit court's denial of the preliminary injunction was proper. *See AJG Holdings, LLC v. Dunn*, 382 S.C. 43, 51, 674 S.E.2d 505, 509 (Ct. App. 2009).

Nonetheless, the current Plan is in compliance with statutorily mandated standards for the review and granting of a CON for a home healthcare provider. Appellant is correct that the current Plan adopts a new set of standards for home health CON applications. Previous plans employed a formulaic approach to determine need. The calculation formula is described in the 2012-2013 State Health Plan at Paragraph 4 of "Certificate of Need Standards," at XII-13, as follows:

The need methodology creates statewide use rates for four population groups (0-17, 18-64, 65-74, 75+) based on 2011 utilization data; 75% of these rates are applied against the projected 2013 populations for each county to get a total number of estimated patients in need. It then takes the actual number of patients served in 2011 and multiplies them by the population growth factor to project the number of patients to be served by the existing home health agencies in the county for 2013. The projected number of patients served by the existing agencies is subtracted from the total estimated number of patients in need. If there is a difference of 100 or more patients projected to be in need, then another agency could be approved for that county.

This formula projected inaccurate need across the state for home health services, and rarely showed any need in any county for services. Even in the counties with a projected need, the utilization rate had to reach 100 to show a “need” under the Plan. The fact that there are now many more applications pending for home health services than in years past is further evidence of the pent up need for home health services due to years of an overly restrictive formula.

DHEC suspended the CON program from July 1, 2013 to June 30, 2014. During the suspension of the program, providers could not obtain a CON even if they applied. During the program shut down, DHEC issued licenses to multiple home health providers. After obtaining licenses and proper certification through Medicare and Medicaid, these home health agencies began serving numerous patients. When these providers entered the market during suspension of the program it was discovered “that there’s a huge need for home health. People are being treated outside of hospitals now, which has essentially, completely been a metamorphosis in home health treatment.” *See* Transcript of Record at 34-35 (R. 226-227). As DHEC noted, during the suspension “what we saw is that there were patients out there in need of services. And when we then went back and looked at our past formula . . . we realized it really wasn’t matching up” with the actual need in the area. Transcript of Record at 25-26 (R. 217-218). Furthermore, the new home health agencies operating “weren’t affecting the ability of already

existing providers to serve. . . .” Transcript of Record at 26 (R. 218). The suspension of the CON program revealed that the previous formula for home health was not working, and, most importantly, patients who had not been able to access home health services finally had their needs met. These agencies are still properly licensed, properly certified, and are now fully complying with current law to seek CONs so they will not be forced to discharge hundreds of home health patients.

The old formulaic approach was not working; therefore, DHEC began a thorough process for devising a new approach to fulfill unmet need for home health services. In all of the regional public hearings, providers and other interested parties expressed concern that need for home health services was not being met. As Ms. Biggers noted, “[t]here was such an intense discussion in the state health planning committee process. There was a full day meeting where [home health] was the only topic And then [the committee] came back and had another meeting. . . .” The home health industry intensely advocated for a revision to the Plan. As Mr. Mullins noted, “I have never seen a situation where an industry came together and all were advocating for a revision to the home health plan.” Transcript of Record at 34 (R. 226). After receiving comments on home health from interested parties, it became clear to DHEC that a revision to the plan was necessary.

Courts should defer to an agency’s interpretation of a statute unless it is “arbitrary, capricious, or manifestly contrary to the statute.” *Trident Medical Ctr. v. South Carolina Dep’t. of Health and Envtl. Control*, 412 S.C. 341, 354, 772 S.E.2d 177, 184 (2015). Agencies entrusted with the interpretation and administration have expertise and skill in the area and the agency’s interpretation “will be accorded the most respectful consideration and will not be

overruled absent a compelling reason.” *Dorman v. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 350 S.C. 159, 167, 565 S.E.2d 119, 123 (Ct. App. 2002).

After careful consideration by the Department, the Plan now contains nine standards for DHEC to consider in evaluating home health applications.

1. An applicant must propose home health services to cover the geographic area of an entire county and agree to serve residents throughout the entire county.
2. A separate application is required for each county in which services are to be provided.
3. A new home health agency may be approved if an applicant can demonstrate it will serve 50 or more patients projected to be in need in non-rural counties, or 25 or more patients projected to be in need in rural counties, through evidence that may include, but would not be limited to, the following:
 - a. Letters of support that identify need for additional home health services from physicians and other referral sources.
 - b. Evidence of underutilization of home health services.
 - c. Evidence of limited scope home health agency service including skilled nursing, physical therapy, occupational therapy, speech therapy, home health aides, and medical social workers.
 - d. Evidence of the denial or delay in the provision of home health services, including but not limited to long waiting lists or delays which exceed industry standards.
4. For the purposes of this Section, a rural county shall mean a county with a population of less than 50,000, according to the most recent projections of the South Carolina Revenue and Fiscal Affairs office as of the time the current Plan was adopted.
5. All home health agency services (Skilled Nursing, Physical Therapy, Occupational Therapy, Speech Therapy, Home Health Aide, and Medical Social Worker) should be available within a county. If there is no hospital in a county and the existing licensed home health agencies between them do not provide all of the services identified above, this may be cited as potential justification for the approval of an additional agency that intends to offer these services.

6. Specialty home health providers are exempt from the need calculation applicable to full service home health agencies, but are otherwise subject to Certificate of Need.
7. The applicant should have a track record that demonstrates a commitment to quality services. There should be no history of prosecution, consent order, abandonment of patients in other business operations, or loss of license. However, any consent orders or loss of licenses related to licenses that were obtained from the Department between July 1, 2013 and May 22, 2014 without a Certificate of Need shall not be grounds for denial of a Certificate of Need application pursuant to this Section. The applicant must provide a list of all licensed home health agencies it operates and the state(s) where it operates them.
8. The applicant must document that it can serve at least 25 patients annually in each rural county for which it is licensed and 50 patients annually in each non-rural county for which it is licensed within two years of initiation of services. The applicant must assure the Department that, should it fail to reach this threshold number two years after initiation of services in a county, it will voluntarily relinquish its license for that county.
9. Nothing in this Section is intended to restrict the ability of the Department to approve more than one new Home Health Agency in a county at any given time.

2014-2015 SHP at XII-7 through XII-8 (R. 320-321). In addition, the Plan includes an inventory of existing home health agencies in the state and 2013 utilization data (the most recent data available) for home health agencies, showing the total number of persons served and total visits per home health provider. 2014-2015 SHP at XII-8 (R. 321). The Plan requires an applicant to demonstrate it will serve at least 25 patients projected to be in need for rural counties and 50 for non-rural counties. Standard 3 provides a non-inclusive list of ways in which an applicant can support its projection. 2014-2015 SHP at XII-7 (R. 320).

The new home health standards are not based on a complex mathematical formula, but the CON Act does not require mathematical formulaic precision for assessing need; it requires a

reasonable projection of need. S.C. Code Ann. §44-7-180(B)(2). In fact, there are several services or facilities in the State that do not have formulaic projections of need or a cap on maximum number of beds, patients, or applications that can be approved. These include: Ambulatory Service Centers, Inpatient Hospice Facilities, Emergency Hospital Services, and Positron Emission Mammography. Non-formulaic standards for all of the above have existed in the Plan for a number of years and have not been challenged.

CON applications must not only comply with the standards in the Plan, but also with applicable regulatory criteria. *See MRI at Belfair v. S.C. Dept. of Health and Env'tl. Control*, 379 S.C. 1, 8, 664 S.E.2d at 471, 475, (2008); *see also* S.C. Code Ann. Reg. 61-15 § 307 (“The Department may refuse to issue a [CON] even if an application is in compliance with the South Carolina Health Plan but is inconsistent with project review criteria or departmental regulations.”). It is also important to note that although the standards for home health in the Plan have changed, the project review criteria have not. An applicant will still have to show compliance with the project review criteria for its application to be granted. These criteria are extensive and include: need, acceptability, distribution, medically underserved groups, record of the applicant, and financial feasibility. *See* S.C. Code Ann. Reg. 61-15 § 802 (identifying 33 separate criteria, many with subparts). The presence of workable standards and many objective criteria ensures the home health applications will only be granted after a careful review by DHEC.

The Respondents in the case have all spent considerable time and expense in filing their applications to provide home health services. Despite the prolonged and detailed review process which culminated in issuance of the current Plan in August of 2015, Amedisys waited until February of 2016 to raise its complaints. Notably, no Amedisys representative spoke at any of the four regional public hearings held in June 2015, to express concerns about the proposed Plan

Standards.³ Instead, Amedisys chose to wait until all applications had been deemed complete and were eligible to be granted, S.C. Code Ann. § 44-7-210(A) (DHEC may begin granting or denying applications 30 days after the applications are deemed complete), thereby self-creating an emergency situation and using the court system as its personal lifeboat.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has already considered the issue in this case. In *MRI at Belfair, LLC v. S.C. Dep't. of Health and Env'tl. Control*, 379 S.C. 1, 664 S.E.2d 471 (2008), the Court reversed a DHEC Board decision to affirm an Administrative Law Court (“ALC”) decision to grant a CON for an MRI,⁴ on grounds that although the applicant complied with Plan standards, the Board did not require it also to demonstrate compliance with separate regulatory criteria. *Id.* at 9, 664 S.E.2d at 475. More importantly for the present case, the Court held that the Plan standards for MRI services did not violate the CON Act. *Id.*

As held in *MRI at Belfair*, a CON applicant for home health services must not only comply with Plan standards, it must also comply with several project review criteria set forth in section 802 of DHEC Regulation 61-15. Moreover, *MRI at Belfair* makes it clear that Plan standards need not be formulaic, completely objective, or reflective of the precise language in the CON Act. In *MRI at Belfair* the Court upheld the following Plan standards for MRIs:

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